
 

 

VIA CERTIFIED MAIL AND E-MAIL 
 
May 20, 2020 
 
David Bernhardt    Aurelia Skipwith 
Secretary of the Interior   Director 
U.S. Department of the Interior  U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
1849 C Street NW    1849 C Street NW 
Washington, DC 20240   Washington, DC 20240 
exsec@ios.doi.gov;doiexecsec@ios.doi.gov aurelia_skipwith@fws.gov  
  
William Pendley    Gary Torres 
Deputy Director    Acting State Director 
U.S. Bureau of Land Management  BLM Eastern States Office 
1849 C Street NW, Rm. 5665   20 M Street, SE Suite 950 
Washington, DC 20240   Washington, DC 20003 
Director@blm.gov; wpendley@blm.gov blm_es_inquiries@blm.gov; gtorres@blm.gov 
 
Vicki Christiansen    Connie Cummins 
Chief      Forest Supervisor, Superior National Forest 
U.S. Forest Service    U.S. Forest Service 
1400 Independence Ave., SW   8901 Grand Avenue Place 
Washington, DC 20250   Duluth, MN 55808 
vcchristiansen@fs.fed.us   r9_superior_NF@fs.fed.us;           
Victoria.christiansen@usda.gov          constance.cummins@usda.gov 

Sixty-Day Notice of Endangered Species Act Violations  
 
Dear Madams and Sirs, 
 

The U.S. Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”), U.S. Forest Service (“Forest Service”), 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (“FWS”), and U.S. Secretary of the Interior (“Secretary”) are 
hereby notified that the Center for Biological Diversity, Northeastern Minnesotans for 
Wilderness, and The Wilderness Society intend to file suit, pursuant to the citizen suit provision 
of the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”), 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g), to challenge (1) the BLM’s failure 
to consult with FWS pursuant to Section 7 of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2), prior to issuing 
its May 1, 2020 Decision approving Prospect Permit Extensions for Twin Metals Minnesota, 
LCC (“Twin Metals”) on the Superior National Forest; and (2) the ongoing failure of the Forest 
Service and FWS to reinitiate and complete ESA consultation, pursuant to 50 C.F.R. § 402.16, 
regarding the ongoing impacts to threatened and endangered species, and their critical habitat, 
from the Federal Hardrock Minerals Prospecting Permits on the Superior National Forest. 
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I. Identity of the Organizations Giving Notice:  The name and address of the 
organizations giving notice of intent to sue under the ESA are: 
 
Center for Biological Diversity   
P.O. Box 710    
Tucson, Arizona 85702-0710     
 
Northeastern Minnesotans for Wilderness 
PO Box 625 
Ely, Minnesota 55731 
 
The Wilderness Society 
1615 M Street NW 
Washington, DC 20036 
     
II. Requirements of the ESA 
 
 Congress enacted the ESA in 1973 to provide “a program for the conservation of . . . 
endangered species and threatened species.” 16 U.S.C. § 1531(b).  Section 2(c) of the ESA 
establishes that it is “the policy of Congress that all Federal departments and agencies shall 
seek to conserve endangered species and threatened species and shall utilize their authorities in 
furtherance of the purposes of this Act.” 16 U.S.C. § 1531(c)(1).  The ESA defines 
“conservation” to mean “ the use of all methods and procedures which are necessary to bring 
any endangered species or threatened species to the point at which the measures provided 
pursuant to this Act are no longer necessary.”  16 U.S.C. § 1532(3).  Similarly, Section 7(a)(1) of 
the ESA directs that all federal agencies “utilize their authorities in furtherance of the purposes” 
of the ESA. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(1).    
 

Section 4 of the ESA directs the Secretary of the Interior to designate species that are 
threatened or endangered with extinction, and to designate “critical habitat” for such species.  16 
U.S.C. § 1533(a).  Section 4 also requires the Secretary to develop and implement recovery plans 
for threatened and endangered species, unless the Secretary finds that such a plan will not 
promote the conservation of the species.  16 U.S.C. § 1533(f). 
 

Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA requires each federal agency, in consultation with FWS, to 
insure that any action authorized, funded, or carried out by the agency is not likely to jeopardize 
the continued existence of any threatened or endangered species, or result in the destruction or 
adverse modification of the critical habitat of such species.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).  During 
consultation, both the action agency and FWS must use the best scientific data available.  Id.  
After the initiation of consultation, the federal agency must not make any irreversible or 
irretrievable commitment of resources with respect to the agency action which has the effect of 
foreclosing the formulation or implementation of any reasonable and prudent alternative 
measures.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(d). 
 

For each proposed action, the action agency must request from FWS whether any listed 
or proposed species may be present in the area of the proposed action.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(c)(1); 
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50 C.F.R. § 402.12.  If listed or proposed species may be present, the action agency must prepare 
a “biological assessment” to determine whether the listed species may be affected by the 
proposed action.  Id.  If the agency determines that its proposed action may affect any listed 
species or critical habitat, the agency must engage in “formal consultation” with FWS.  50 C.F.R. 
§ 402.14. 
 

To complete formal consultation, FWS must provide the action agency with a “biological 
opinion” explaining how the proposed action will affect the listed species or habitat.  16 U.S.C. § 
1536(b); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14.  If FWS concludes in the biological opinion that the proposed 
action will jeopardize the continued existence of a listed species, or will result in the destruction 
or adverse modification of critical habitat, FWS must outline “reasonable and prudent 
alternatives” to the proposed action that FWS believes would not jeopardize listed species or 
result in the destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(3)(A).   
 

If the biological opinion concludes that the proposed action is not likely to jeopardize the 
continued existence of a listed species, or result in the destruction or adverse modification of 
critical habitat, FWS must provide an “incidental take statement” (“ITS”) along with the 
biological opinion,  specifying the amount or extent of such incidental taking on the species, any 
“reasonable and prudent measures” that FWS considers necessary or appropriate to minimize 
such impact, and setting forth the “terms and conditions” that must be complied with by the 
agency to implement those measures.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(4); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(i).  In order to 
monitor the impacts of incidental take, the agency must report the impact of its action on the 
listed species to FWS.  50 C.F.R. § 402.14(i)(3).  If during the course of the action the amount or 
extent of incidental taking is exceeded, the agency must reinitiate consultation immediately.  50 
C.F.R. § 401.14(i)(4). 
 

The reinitiation of consultation is required and must be requested by FWS and the action 
agency where discretionary federal involvement or control over the action has been retained or is 
authorized by law and: (1) if the amount or extent of taking specified in the incidental take 
statement is exceeded; (2) if new information reveals effects of the action that may affect listed 
species or critical habitat in a manner or to an extent not previously considered; (3) if the 
identified action is subsequently modified in a manner that causes an effect to the listed species 
or critical habitat that was not considered in the biological opinion; or (4) if a new species is 
listed or critical habitat designated that may be affected by the identified action.  50 C.F.R. § 
402.16(a). 
 

Section 9 of the ESA and its implementing regulations prohibit the unauthorized “take” 
of any endangered or threatened species of fish or wildlife.  16 U.S.C. § 1538(a)(1); 16 U.S.C. § 
1533(d); 50 C.F.R. § 17.31.  “Take” is defined broadly to include harming, harassing, trapping, 
capturing, wounding or killing a protected species either directly or by degrading its habitat.  16 
U.S.C. § 1532(19).  Taking that is in compliance with the terms and conditions of an ITS in a 
biological opinion is exempt from the Section 9 take prohibition.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(o)(2). 
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III. The “Hardrock Minerals Prospecting Permits” on the Superior National Forest 
 
 On March 22, 2012, FWS completed a Biological Opinion concerning Hardrock Minerals 
Prospecting Permits on the Superior National Forest.  The Forest Service had prepared an 
Environmental Impact Statement to assess the environmental impacts of hardrock mineral 
prospecting permits, including permit applications by Twin Metals, and consulted with FWS on 
the impacts of these permits on the Canada lynx and its critical habitat.  At the time of the 2012 
Biological Opinion, the gray wolf and its critical habitat had been removed from the list of 
endangered species, and thus it was not included in the Biological Opinion.   
 
 The prospecting permits analyzed in the 2012 Biological Opinion could occur within a 
six-year timeframe.  This timeframe, however, could be extended to 15 years.  Additional permit 
applications could also be accepted for five years, and thus the total duration of the mineral 
exploration action analyzed in the Biological Opinion was estimated to be 20 years. 
 
 FWS concluded in the 2012 Biological Opinion that the prospecting permits were not 
likely to jeopardize the continued existence of the Canada lynx.  FWS also concurred with the 
Forest Service that the permits were not likely to adversely affect critical habitat for the lynx.  
FWS anticipated the incidental take of one lynx killed by a vehicle every 20 years in the action 
area.  
 
IV. The May 1, 2020 Decision by BLM to Approve Prospecting Permit Extensions 
 
 In March, 2015, the BLM completed a “Determination of NEPA Adequacy” (“DNA”) 
Worksheet concerning Twin Metals and Duluth Metals “Prospecting Permit Extension Request.”  
The description of the proposed action was to extend 13 prospecting permits for a four-year 
period.  The BLM found that the proposed permit extensions were for the same permits analyzed 
within the 2012 Hardrock Minerals Prospecting Permits Environmental Impact Statement, and 
that “[n]o new issues or concerns have arisen.” 
 
 Five years later, on May 1, 2020, the BLM issued its decision and approved the four-year 
extensions of the 13 prospecting permits.  The BLM determined that these 13 prospecting 
permits “are hereby extended to be effective May 1, 2020.”  Moreover, according to the May 1, 
2020 Decision, the permits, “which now contain approved exploration plans, are extended for a 
period of four years and will expire on April 30, 2024.” 
 
V.  Violations of the ESA 
 

A. The Forest Service’s and FWS’s Failure to Reinitiate and Complete Consultation 
on the Hardrock Minerals Prospecting Permits on the Superior National Forest. 
 

The Forest Service has retained discretionary involvement and control over the Hardrock 
Minerals Prospecting Permits on the Superior National Forest.  Subsequent to FWS’s March 22, 
2012 Biological Opinion regarding the Hardrock Minerals Prospecting Permits, new species 
have been listed as threatened with extinction, and new critical habitat has been designated, 
which may be affected by the prospecting permits.  On February 20, 2015, FWS issued a final 
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rule to reinstate the March 9, 1978 final rule as it relates to gray wolves in the western Great 
Lakes, including threatened status for gray wolves in Minnesota, and the designation of critical 
habitat for gray wolves in Minnesota.  80 Fed. Reg. 9218 (Feb. 20, 2015).  On April 2, 2015, 
FWS issued a final rule designating the northern long-eared bat as a threatened species under the 
ESA, including northern long-eared bats found in Minnesota.  80 Fed. Reg. 17974 (April 2, 
2015).   
 

Subsequent to FWS’s March 22, 2012 Biological Opinion regarding the Hardrock 
Minerals Prospecting Permits, new information reveals effects of the prospecting permits that 
may affect listed species and/or critical habitat in a manner or to an extent not previously 
considered.  This new information includes, but is not limited to, the submission of Twin Metal’s 
December, 2019 Mine Plan of Operations to state and federal agencies, and related preference 
right lease application; the BLM’s 2018 reinstatement and 2019 renewal of Twin Metal’s 
Hardrock Mineral Leases MNES 01352 and MNES 01353; and the December 14, 2016 
determination by the Forest Service that development of a copper-nickel sulfide ore mine within 
the same watershed as the Boundary Waters Canoe Area Wilderness poses an unacceptable risk 
due to the potential for serious and irreparable harm to this unique, iconic, and irreplaceable 
wilderness area. 
 

The ongoing failure of the Forest Service and FWS to reinitiate and complete 
consultation on the Hardrock Minerals Prospecting Permits on the Superior National Forest 
violates the ESA.  50 C.F.R. § 402.16(a), 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). 
 

B. The BLM’s Failure to Consult with FWS Prior to Issuing Its May 1, 2020 
Decision Approving Prospecting Permit Extensions. 

 
 The BLM’s May 1, 2020 Decision, approving the extension of 13 prospecting permits on 
the Superior National Forest, constitutes an agency action under the ESA which may affect listed 
species, including the Canada lynx and its critical habitat, the gray wolf and its critical habitat, 
and the northern-long eared bat.  Prior to issuing the May 1, 2020 Decision, the BLM failed to 
request from FWS whether any listed or proposed species may be present in the area of the 
proposed action, in violation of the ESA.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(c)(1); 50 C.F.R. § 402.12.  Listed or 
proposed species may be present in the area of the prospecting permits, and therefore the BLM’s 
failure to prepare a “biological assessment” to determine whether the listed species may be 
affected by the permits further violates the ESA.  Id.  Moreover, the prospecting permits may 
affect listed species or critical habitat, and thus the BLM’s failure to engage in consultation with 
FWS further violated the ESA.  50 C.F.R. § 402.14; 16 U.S.C. § 1536. 
 
 The BLM’s failure to insure, in consultation with FWS, that the May 1, 2020 Decision is 
not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any threatened or endangered species, or result 
in the destruction or adverse modification of the critical habitat of such species, violates the 
ESA.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).   
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VI.   Conclusion 
 

For the above stated reasons, the BLM, Forest Service, FWS, and the Secretary have 
violated and remain in ongoing violation of the ESA concerning federal hardrock mineral 
prospecting permits on the Superior National Forest.  If these violations are not cured within 
sixty days, the Center for Biological Diversity, Northeastern Minnesotans for Wilderness, and 
The Wilderness Society intend to file suit for declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as attorney 
and expert witness fees and costs. This notice letter was prepared based on good faith 
information and belief after reasonably diligent investigation.  If you believe that any of the 
foregoing is factually erroneous or inaccurate, please notify us promptly.   
 
 

 Sincerely, 
 

 
      Marc Fink 
      Senior Attorney 
      Center for Biological Diversity 
      209 East 7th St 
      Duluth, MN 55805 
      218-464-0539 
      mfink@biologicaldiversity.org 


